IN THE SUPREME COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA

OFFICE OF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL, : No. 1522 Disciplinary Docket No. 3

Petitioner
V. ' : No. 119 DB 2009
ROBERT J. POWELL, . Attorney Registration No, 58363
Respondent . (Luzerne County)

ORDER

PER CURIAM:

AND NOW, this 23" day of January, 2015, there having been filed with this Court
by Robert J. Powell his verified Statement of Resignation dated January 7, 2015, stating
that he desires to resign from the Bar of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania in
accordance with the provisions of Rule 215, Pa.R.D.E., itis

ORDERED that the resignation of Robert J, Powell is accepted; he is disbarred
on consent from the Bar of the Commonwealth of Pennsyivania, retroactive to August
31, 2009; and he shall comply with the provisions of Rule 217, Pa.R.D.E. Respondent
shall pay costs, if any, to the Disciplinary Board pursuant to Rule 208(g), Pa.R.D.E.

A True Copy Patricia Nicola
As Of 1/2?/!2015

ef ClaRar T rerof i
Supreme Court of Pennsylvania



BEFORE THE DISCIPLINARY BOARD OF THE
SUPREME COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA

OFFICE OF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL : No. 1522 Disciplinary Docket No. 3
Petitioner :
No. 119 DB 2009
V.
Attorney Registration No. 58363
ROBERT 4. POWELL : :
Respondent . (Luzerne County)

RESIGNATION BY RESPONDENT

Pursuant to Rule 215
of the Pennsylvania Rules of Disciplinary Enforcement



BEFORE THE DISCIPLINARY BOARD OF THE
SUPREME COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA

OFFICE OF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL : F No. 1522 Disciplinary Docket No. 3
Petitioner
No. 119 DB 2009

: Board File Nos. C3-09-166, C3-09-524,
v : and C3-09-780

Attorney Registration No. 58363

ROBERT J. POWELL :
Respondent : (Luzerne County)

RESIGNATION STATEMENT UNDER RULE 215, PA. R.D.E.

|, Robert J. Powell, hereby resign from the practice of law in the Commonwealth of

Pennsylvania in conformity with Rule 215 of the Pennsylvania Rules of Disciplinary

Enforcement (hereafter Pa.R.D.E.), and further state as follows:
1. | was admitted to the bar of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania on June

27, 1990. | was temporarily suspended by Order of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania

on August 31, 2009.

2. | desire to. resign from the Bar of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

3, | This resignation is freely and voluntarily renderéd.

4. | am not being subjected to coercion or duress.

5. | am fully aware of the implications of submitting this resignation, including

the fact it is irrevocable, and that | can only apply for reinstatement to the practice of law

pursuant to the provisions of Pa.R.D.E. 218(b).



6. | am currently being represented by Barbara S. Rosenberg, Esquire, 1060
First Avenue, King of Prussia, PA 19408, and have consulted with her in connection with
the decision to resign.

7. | am aware of pending investigations by the Office of Disciplinary Counsel
into three separate matters, more fuily set forth below. One of these three matters is a
Federal Criminal prosecution. (Office of Disciplinary Counsel File No. C3-09-524).

8. The Federal-CriminaI prosecution is docketed to No. 3.CR-09-189 in the
United States District Court for the Middle District of Pennsylvania.

9, On November 4, 2011, | was sentenced, pursuant to a negotiated Piea
Agreement, to an aggregate sentence of 18 months incarceration with one year of
supervised release, and a $60,000 fine plus costs, in connection with charges of
Misprision of a Felony (18 USC §4) and Accessory After the Fact to Conspiracy to
Commit Ihcome Tax Evasion (18 USC §3). (See the Judgment in a Criminal -Case_
attached as "Exhibit A.")

10. | acknowledge | committed the criminal acts which were the subject of my
guilty plea, as set forth, in part, by Assistant United States Attomey Gordon Zubrod to the
Court at th.e time of my guilty plea (see Transcript Excerpts aftached hereto as “Exhibit
B"), which | acknowledged then, and acknowledge now, as a true and correct statement
of the facts.

1. With respect to the second pending investigation (Office of Disciplinary

Counsel File No. C3-09-166), the Stipulations as to the relevant facts, as well as to



violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct, are set forth in “Stipulation A,” are
incorporated herein, and | acknowledge them to be true and correct.

12, With respect to the third pending investigation {Office of Disciplinary
Counsel File No. C3-09-780), the Stipulations as to the relevant facts, as well as to
violations of the Rules of Professidnal Conduct, all set forth in “Stipulation B,” are
incorporated herein, and | acknowledge them to be true and correct.

13. | am submitting this resignation because | know and acknowledge my
conduct is in violation of multiple Rules of Professional Conduct (hereinafter “RPC"),
including the following: |

a. RPC 1.15(e) Except as stated in this Rule or otherwise
permitted by law or by agreement with the client or third
- person, a lawyer shall promptly deliver to the client or-third
person any property, . . ., that the client or third person is
entitled to receive and, upon request by the client or third
person, shall promptly render a full accounting regarding the
property; Provided, however, that the delivery, accounting
and disclosure of Fiduciary Funds or property shall continue
to be governed by the law, procedure and rules governing
the requirements of Fiduciary administration, confidentiality,
notice and accounting applicable to the Fiduciary

entrustment.



b. RPC 8.4(b) It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to
commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's
honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other
respects,

C. RPC 8.4(c) It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to
engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or
misrepresentation.

d. RPC 8.4(d) It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to
engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of
justice.

14. | also know and acknowledge that my criminal conviction, in and of itself,
constitutes an independent basis for discipline pursuant to Pa.R.D.E. 203(b)(1).

156. | am submitting this resignation because | know that if charges were
predicated upon the misconduct under investigation as set forth above [ could not
successfuily defend against them.

16.  As a resuit of the filing of a Joint Petition to Temporarily Suspend an
Attorney (pursuant to Pa.R.D.E. 214), | have been suspen.ded from the practice of law,
pursuant to your Honorable Court's Order of August 31, 2009. | respectfully request your
Honorable Court make my disbarment retroactive to that date. | understand that the

decision whether to grant my request is within the Court's discretion.



Et is understood that the statements made herem are SUbjth to the penaltles of 18

. Pa C S A §4904 (refatmg to unsworn fafsaﬁcatzon authorrtres)

bate’

e

Date . Wiess




BEFORE THE DISCIPLINARY BOARD OF THE
SUPREME COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA

OFFICE OF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL : No. 1522 Disciplinary Docket No. 3
Petitioner

No. 119 DB 2009

: Board File Nos. C3-09-166, C3-09-524,
V. : and C3-09-780

Attorney Registration No. 58363
ROBERT J. POWELL

Respondent : (Luzerne County)

STIPULATION A
OFFICE OF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL FILE NO, C3-09-166
(JEFFREY B. McCARRON, ESQUIRE - COMPLAINANT)

1. I along with several associates of his former firm, the Powell Law Group,

represented the Plaintiff in a civil action captioned Slusser, et al v. Laputka, et al (6741-C

- 2000, Luzerne County), a legal malpractice suit which was assigned to then Luzerne
County Judge Mark A. Civarella.

2. During the course of pre-trial discussions on or about January 23, 2008,

Complainant (Defendant’s counsel), questioned Judge Civarella as to the existence of a
relationship between me and Judge Civarella.

3. Judge Civarella denied that any relationship existed between me and
himself, other than limited social contact.

4. Judge Civarella’s denial that any relationship other than a social
association existed between himself and me was false, and that business relationships
also existed. |



5. Twas present at the time this d1angL1e took place, and 1 d1d not at any
time in the course of this litigation disclose the nature of the re]at;onshlp which d1d in
 fact, exist, between me and Judge Cwarella ' : -

6. Followmg a ]ury verdlct on February 4, 2008 in favor of my chent a series.
o _of motions, supplemental motlons and briefs were filed by thé parties. i substantial - .
 part the Defendant" s fllmgs were du ected at the reianonshlp between myself and ]udge -

o Clvalella

7. 1 1emamed attomey of 1ecord and I did not disclose my 1e1ahonsh1p to
Judge Civarella, which relationship I acknowledge and admit was extensive and should .
have been disclosed. ' ' :

_ 8. The 1e1at10nsh§p between me and Judge Civarella subsequently became a
matter of public 1ecord : : - '

‘ 9. - The Supenor Cout. Vacated the Judgment and all Orders and remanded o
. t.‘he case. (Stusser, et al v, Laputka, et al, 9 A.3d 1200 {Pa. Super. 2010)). The ‘opinion -
focuses on the failure of Judge Cwarella to 1eveal the 1elat10nshtp as grounds for the

- order; while my s sﬂence in the face of ]udge Cwarella s statements is mentloned there 15' o

R fm dlng thatI h ad a duty to mtenupt or contrad1ct the court’ s statements

10. 'f As a result of thlS conduct I sttpulate and adrmt that I have v;o]ated the. : o

to]loxmng Rule of Professmnal Conduct

a , RI’C' 84( ) It is professmnal mlsconduct for a lawyer to .

- en a e in conduct’ mvolvmo dlshones y fraud decelt or." BRI R,
_ ge

- m151 ep resentatton

b -,RPC 8 4{d) It s plofessmnal 1n1sconduct for 2a Jawyer to e
' jushce

s

Date NN

, _2..'_:7

- engage in conduct that is p1 e]ud1c1a1 to the admmlstra‘aon of Sy



BEFORE THE DISCIPLINARY BOARD OF THE
SUPREME COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA

OFFICE OF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL : No. 1522 Disciplinary Docket No. 3
Petitioner
No. 119 DB 2009

: Board File Nos. C3-09-166, C3-09-524,
V. : and C3-09-780

Attorney Registration No. 58363
ROBERT J. POWELL

Respondent : (Luzerne County)

STIPULATION B
OFFICE OF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL FILE NO. C3-09-780
(ROBERT L. GROVER, ESQUIRE - COMPLAINANT)

1. In or about June 2004, Complainant, and his partner Adam Trop, referred
a wrongful death case (Estate of James T. Witt v. Clayton W. Fegley, et al; 5074-C-2004; Lu-
zerne County) to the Powell Law Group, my former law firm.

2. In or about June 2004, a Contingent Fee Agreement, was prepared on my
letterhead by my office staff. This Agreement was forwarded to Complainant’s partmer
Adam Trop, by my associate Attorney Stephen Seach. On information received, Attor-
ney Trop had it executed by the Plaintiff, and returned to my office, under cover of a
letter dated June 21, 2004.

3. This Agreement provided that the Complainant’s firm was entitled to 33-
1/3% of the attorney’s fees recovered by my firm.

4, In late 2008, this matter was settled by Mr. Seach, for the sum of $450,000.



SN The Settlement Statement compded in this matter reﬂects the settlement of
$45[] 000, and attomey fees of 40%, in an amount of $180, 000. Based on the aforemen-
: txoned Fee Agreement Complamant was enhtled to 33-1/3% of thls amount or $60 ODO

o ' 6._: Pursuant to my mstructlons, _my staff forwarded a check to Complamant
- dated ]anuary 21,2009, in an amount of $30 UUU rather than the $60 OOD to wh1ch Com— '
- plainant’s fum was Entlﬂ(_d oo R

7 Desplte a’series of commumcahons befween Complamant and pnmarlly, o

Attorney Seach of my office, T directed, as the prmmpal attorney in my firm, that the
remaining $30, 000; to which Compiamant is entitled not be Pald As of December 22,
. 2015, the funds have been pald to Mr vaer

8. Asa result of thls conduct, I shpulate and admit that Ihave V:Lo]ated the
following Rules of Professmnal Conducf -

S a. RPC 1. 15(e Except as stated in this Rule or otherwise per~ -
' _mltted by law or by agreement Wlth the client or ‘third per--

e son, a lawyer shal] promptly dehver to the chent or thlrd'f'; R
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AQ 2458 {Rev. 09/08 ) Judgment in & Crimina) Cese
S RECEIVED
USHS MIDOLE/PA

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
' 07 KN 10 PH 207

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ; JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE
v. )
ROBERT J. POWELL g Case Number: 3:CR08-189
§ USM Number: 15110-087
) Joseph R, YAndres .
Defendant's Atomey
THE DEFENDANT:

RZpleaded guilty to count(s) _One {1) and Twa (2) of an Amended Information

O pleaded nolo contendere 1o couni(s)
which wes accepted by the court.

(3 was found guilty on count(s)
afler 6 plea of not guilty,

The defendant is adjudicated guilty of these offensss:

Title & Section Nature of Offense

g.An

! 5 o R D i E N R ST TR
18UBC3 Accessory Aftel 47152007 2
it ““-“"Eﬁ‘@m__ T Sk s : frm-vﬁ i s

[1The defendant has been found pot guilty on souni(s)
0 Count{s} [0is  [Jare dismissed on the motlon of the United Staies.

.. 1t is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States attorney for this district within 30 days of any change of name, residence,
ormailing address unti] all fines, restitution, costs, and specizl assessments imposed by tiis judgment are fitlly paid. If ordered to pay restitution,
the defendant must notify the court and United States atiorney of material changes in economie gireumstances. .

11442011
Datz of Impesition of Judgment .

At e,

F fz Eﬂ Edwin M. Koslk U.S, District Judge

SG;?/% N ?Oﬂ | Mame of udge Tirte of Judpe
gkl 14/, /et

Signnture of Judpe

Date
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AQ 2458 . (Rev, 09/08) Judgment in Criminal Case
Shect 2 - Imywisonment

ludgmont — Pags 2 of 7

DEFENDANT: ROBERT J, FOWELL
CASE NUMBER: 2:CR0B-188

IMPRISONMENT

The defendznt is hereby commitied to the custody of the United Siaies Bureau of Prisons to be Imprisoned for o
tote] term oft

eighteen {18} months on each of Counts 1 and 2,10 be served concurrently,

QJ( The courl makes the following recommendations to the Bureay of Prisons:

The court racommends that the Bureau of Prisons designate FCI-Miam!, FL a5 ihe place far service of this senience,

[l The defendant is remanded to (he custady of the United States Marshal,

O The defendant shall surrender 1o the United Siates Marshal for this district;
0 =t O am O pm  on
[ as notified by the United States Marshal.

' The defendant shall surrender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bwrean of Prisons;
B before2pmon 1108002011 _
D) asnotifled by the United Stafes Marshal,

(0 & notified by the Probation or Pretrial Services Office.

[ the defendam i to contact the United States Marshal's OfTice ng later thon thres cays prior to thy, sbove dale to be notificd of the plase of confinement,

RETURN
T have execwded this judpment as follows:
'x £
Defendant dalivesed-on {2274 to r:éc
et Pﬁ&{ﬂ cown. 1 + with a cerfified copy of this judgment.
CSeon A ﬂimow’gmak:rf [ dgrced
UKNITED STATES MARSHAL
B}, %’/ CJ.Q

DEFUTY UMITED STATES MARSHAL
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AD245B {Rev, 09/08) fudgmenl in & Criminal Tase
Shest 24 — Imprisoniment

3 of 7

DEFENDANT: ROBERT J. FOWELL udgment—Fege
CASE NUMBER: 3:CRO09-169

ADDITIONAL IMPRISONMENT TERMS

During the term of imprisonment, the fins is payable every three months in an amount, after a telephone allowance, equal
to 50 percent of the funds deposited Into the defendant’s Inmats trust fund account.
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AD 2458 (Rev. 09/D8) Judgment in 2 Criminal Case
Sheet 3 — Supervisnd Releass

4 7

DEFENDANT: ROBERT J, POWELL Judgment—FPage
CASE NUMBER: 3:CR08-180 '
SUPERVISED RELEASE

Upon releese from imprisonment, the defendant sheil be on supervised release for a term of §
one (1} year on each count, to be sarved conecurrantly,

The defendant must report 1o the probation office in the district o which the defendent s released within 72 hours of release from the
cuslody of the Bureau of Prisons. :

The defendant shzll not commit another federal, state or local crime.

The defendant shall not unlawfully possess a controiled substance, The defendant shaf refrain from any unlawful use of'a controiled
substance. The defendant shall submit to one drug test within 15 days of release from iniprisoniment and at least twa periodie drug tests
theresfter, as determined by the court. :

g{ The sbove drug lesiing condition is susfcnded. based on the court’s determination that the defendant poses a Jow risk of
Tuture subsiance sbuse. (Check, fFapplicable,)

‘The defendent shell not possess a firearm, ammymlition, destructive device, or any other danperous weapon. (Check, if applicabie,

The defendant shall cooperate In the collection of DNA 2s directed by the probation officer, Chect, I applicable.}

=R ESE

The defendant shall comply with the requirements of the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (42 U.8.C. § 16901, ¢1 seq.)
a5 dirceted by the {zrobaﬁon vificer, the Bureau of Prisans, or any state sex oifender registration agency in which he or she resides,
works, is a sfuden, or was convicted of & qualifying offense, (Check, ifappliontlz)

O The defendant shalt pariicipate in an approved program for domestic vislence, {Check, {f appliceble.)

I this judgment imposes a fine or restitution, it s & condition of supervised release that the defendant pay in accordance with the
Schedule of Payments sheet of this judgment,

The defundant must comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by this court a5 weli as with any additional conditions
on the mifached paga. .

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION

1} the dcfendant shall not leave the judicial district without the permission of the courd or probation ofiicer;

2} the l_cliefcndﬁnt shall report fo the probztion officer and shell submit a truthful and complete written reporl within the first five days of
each monih; "

3} thedefendant shall answer truthfully all inquiries by the probation officer and follow the Instructions of the prabztion officer;
4} the defendant shall support his or her dependents and meet ather family responsibitities;

5}  the defendant shall work regularly et a lawful ovcapation, unless excussd by the probation officer for schoaling, training, or other
aceeplable reasons; :

&)  the defendant shall notify the probation afficer at least ten davs pricr 1o any change in residenoe or employment;

7y the defendant shall refrain from excessive use of alcohe] and shall not purchase, possess, use, distribite, or administer any
comtralled substence. ot any parzpherziia related to any conirolled substances, except as preseribed by a physician;

3) the defendant shall not frequent places whare controlled substances are iliegaliy soid, used, distributed, or administered:

9)  the defendant shall not assogiaje with any persons engaged incriminal sctivity and shall not sssociate with any person convicted of o
felony, unless granted permission e do so'by the prokalion oifizer;

10)  the defendant shall permit s probation officer 1o visit himor her ot any time at home or elsewhere and shall permit confiscation of &ny
contreband observed in plain vlew of the probation officer;

11)  the defendant shall notify the probation officer within seventy-twa hours of being errested or questioned by a law enforcement officer;
12} the defendant shall not enter inio any agresment to ect g5 en informer o a special agent of a law enforcement egency withaut the
permission of the court; and

13} as directed by the probation officer, the defendunt shall notify third partiesof risks that may be occasioned by the defendant's eriminal
record or persoral history or eharacteristies and shall permit ihe probation officer to make such notifications and 1o confimm the
defendant's compliance with such natifieation requirément.

14)  the defendant shal} notify the Courl of any materin! change in the defendant’s ccanamic circumetances that might affect the defendant’s
ability to pay restitution, fines, or special assessments,
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AD 2458 (Rev. 02/08) Judgment in 8 Crimingl Case
Sheet 3A ~— Bupervized Release
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DEFENDANT: RCBERTJ. POWELL
CASE NUMBER: 2:CR0B-188

ADDITIONAL SUPERVISED RELEASE TERMS

In the avent the fine is not paid in full prior to the commencement of supervised release, the defendant shafl, as a condition
of supervised releass, salisfy the amount due in monthly instaliments of no less than $5,000 to commence thirty (30) days
after release from confinement.

1} The defandant shall cooperate in the coflection of a DNA sample as directed by the probation officer, unless 2 5arnp§é
was collected durng Imprisoniment;

2} The defendant shall not incUir new credit card charges or open addifional lines of cradit without the approval of the
probation officer uniess the defendant is in compliance with the instaliment scheduie for payment of restitution or speclal
assessment;

3} The defendant shall provigs the probation cfficer with access o any requested financial information; and

4} The defendant shall apply all monles recsived from income fax refunds, lottery winnings, judgments, endfor other
anticipated or unexpected financial gains {0 the outstanding court-crdered financiat obligation.

The court finds that the defandant poses a jow risk of future subslance abuse, and therefore suspends the mandatory drug
testing requirement.

The seniencd imposed satisfies the purposes set forth in 18 USC Saction 3553(a).

You san sppeal your conviction if you believe that your guilty plea was somehow unlawiul or involuntary, or if there is some
other fundamental defect in the proceedings that was not walved by your gullty plea. You also have a statufory right to
eppeal your sentence under cerlain cireumstances, particularly If you think the senfance js contraty 1o law. However, a
defandant may waive those righis &% part of a plea agreement, and you have enlered into 2 plea agreemont which waives
some or all of your righis o appeal the seniance self, Such walvers ars generally enforceable, but If you belleve the
walver is unenforceable, you can present that theory to the appellate court. With few exceptions, any nofice of appeal
must be filed within 14 days afler senience is Impased on you,

if you are unable to pay the cost of an appeal, you may apply for leave to appeal In forma pavperls. If you sa request, the
Clerk of the Court will prepara and file & notice of appea! on your behalf,
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AD245B  (Rev. 09/08) Judgrnent in e Criminal Czse
Shest 5— Criminal Mongtary Penslties

Judgment-— Page _ __5; .o

DEFENDANT: ROBERT J. POWELL
CASENUMBER: 3:CR09-189

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES

The defendant must pay the {oial criminal monelary penelties under the schedule of peyments on Sheet 6,

Aszesement . Fine Restitution
TOTALS § 200.00 ’ $ 60,000.00 $
[0 The determination of restitution is deferred until . AN Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (40 243¢) will be entered

after such determination.
[ The defendant must make restitvtion (ineluding community retitution) to the Pollowing payees in the amouns fisied below,

[f the defendant makes a parilal payment, each payze shall receive an approximately Uprogortéon ed payment, unless specified etherwise in
the priority order or percentage paymenst column telow. However, pursuant to 128'U.8,C, § 3664(1), 2ll nonfederal vietims must be paid
before the United States is paid,

Name of Payee Total Loss”

TOTALS $ 0.00 § 0.00

O Restitution emount ordered pursnant fo plea agreement 3

The defendant must pay interest on restitufion and 2 fine of more then 32,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full before (he
fifieenth day after the date of the judpment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(1). Al of the payment options on Sheet 6 may be subject
1o penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.CL § 3612(g).

RF  The court determined that the defendant does not have the ability 1o pay interest end jt Is ordsred that:
Ev?fr the interest requirement is walved for the @’ fine- [0 restitution,

[ theipterestrequirementforthe [ fine  [J  restitution is modified as follows:

* Findings for the fotal rount of losses are rr:guircd under Chapters 1094, 110, 1104, and 1134 of Title 18 for offenses copunitied on or sfler
September 13, 1554, but before Apri} 23, 1796,
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AD 2458 (Rev.D9/08) Judgment in a Ceimingl Crse
Sheel 6 = Schedule of Paymeonts
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DEFENDANT: ROBERT J. POWELL
CASEMUMBER: 3:CR09-188

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS

Having assessed the defendant's ability to pay, payment of the tolal criminel monetary penalties is due as folfows:

A [ Lumpsum paymentcf§ due immediately, balance due

(0 notater than , o7
7 inaccordance O ¢ OO0 O EBor [OFbelowar

B ([J Pasymenito begin immediately {may be combined with [ C, [OD,or  [JFbelow), or

€ [ Paymentinequal (.2, weekly, morehly, quarterly) installments of § over & period of
_ {e.g., months or years), to commence {e.g., 30 or 60 days) afier the date of this judgment; or

D [ Paymentinequal {e.g., weekly, monthly, guerterly) instaliments of § over a period of

e (B moNLhS or years), 1o commence {e.g.. 30 or 60 dnyr) efter release from imprisonment to a

term of supervision; or

E [ Paymentdoring the term of supervised release will cominence within (e.&, 30 or'6f days} efter refease from
imprisonment. The court will set the payment plan based on en assessment of the defendant’s ability to pay &t that time; or

F Ea’ Special Instructions regarding the payment of eriminal monetery penalties:

The court finds that the defendani has the ability o pay a fine. #t is ordered that the defendant shall pay o the
Clerk, U.S. Distriat Court, the sum of $60,200 consisting of a fine of $30,000 and special assessment of $100 on
each of Counts 1 and 2, The speclal assessments are due immedialely, Psyment of inferest Is waived.

Unléss the courl has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal monetary pennlties is due during
imprisorynent, All eriminal monetary penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of Prisons’ Inmate Financial
Responsibility Pragrem, ere made 1o the elerk of the court.

The defendant shall receive credit for ail payments previously made towerd any criminal monetary penalties jmposed.

O Joiniend Several

Defendant end Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including defendant nember), Total Amount, Joint and Severzl Amount,
and eomresponding payee, if appropriate. i .

[0 The defendant shali pay the cosl of prosecution,
O The defendant shall pay the following court eosi(s):

)" The defendant shall forfelt the defendent's Interest in the {ollowing property fo the United States:

Payments shall be applied in the following crder: (lf essessment, {2) restitution principal, (3) restitution interest, (4 fine principal,
(37 fine inierest, (6) community restitution, (7) penaltics, and (&) costs, including cosi of proseeution and cowrt costs,



11 IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA
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3
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA :
4 :
5 VS :
: NO. 09-CR-189

61 ROBERT POWELL !

7.

8

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS
9 OF ARRAIGNMENT AND GUILTY PLEA
10
BEFORE: HONORABLE EDWIN M. KOSIK
11 United States District Judge
12
DATE: Wednesday, July 1, 2008
13 _
14 PLACE: . United States District Court
Middie District of Pennsylvania
15 235 North Washington Avenue
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THE CCURT: Remain seated, please.

MR. ZUBROD: Good morning, Your Honor, May it please
the Court, we're here in the case of the United States of
America versus Robert Powell, Criminal Number 09-189, Pursuant
to a negotiated plea, Mr. Powell will be entering a plea of
guilty to a two-count information. The first count alleges a
violation of Title 18 United States Code Section 4, Misprision
of a Felony, that is wire fraud. Additionaily, he will be
pleading guilty to a violation of Title 18 United States Code
Section 3, Accessory After the Fact, that is Conspiracy to File
False Tax Returns.

THE COURT: Thank you.

- MR. SHEPPARD: Mark Sheppard on behalf of Mr. Powell.
With me is my co-counsel, Joe D'Andrea. The defendant is
present. I apologize, Your Honor, for the way that I am
speaking. I am still suffering from that Bell's Palsy and
didn't want you to think I hit the sauce a 1ittle early this
morning.

THE COURT: HNo problem because we won’t expect you to
say too much.

MR. SHEPPARD: I am hoping to say as little as
possible.

THE COURT: You are Robert Powell?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: We don't know each other. Will you
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agree?

THE DEFENDANT: I agree with that, Your Honor.

THE COURT: This proceeding may take about 20
minutes. In it I must ask you a number of questions., Your
responses must be under oath if you'd be kind enough to raise
your right hand. Remain seated. This young Tady will
administer the oath.

{The defendant was placed under oath at this time.)

BY THE COURT:

Q. State for the record your age and the extent of your
education.
A, I'm 49 years old, Your Honor. I have a Bachelor of

Science Degree 1in Business Management and a Juris Law Degree.

Q. Of course. And you practice law?
Al I do, Your Hanor.
Q. Very good. The purpose of these guestions even though

you're knowledgeable with the Taw is for the Court to determine

independently 1in each case regardless of the individual's
status 1in 1+ife whether or not the plea they are going to enter
is voluntary and knowing of one's rights before such a plea is
entered. Do you understand that? |
A. I do, Your Honor.

Q. So we're not trying to insult your intelligence. We are
doing what we are obiiged to do in every case.

A. I understand, Your Honor.
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Q. Are you presently under the care of a physician or a
physician psychiatrist?

A, I am not, Your Honor.

Q. Taking any kind of medication that would affect your

ability to understand the -- why we're here?

A. No medications whatsoever, Your Honor.
Q. Counsel for the government in introducing the case told us
there's a plea agreement; is that correct?

A. Yes, Your Honor.
Q. You authorized your Tawyers to negotiate that agreement in
your behalf?

A. I did, Your Honor.

Q.. As a matter of fact, you and your 1awyer_have.signed the
agreement; isn’t that correct?

A. That's correct, Your Honor,

Q. Please Tisten. 1 will ask Mr. Zubrod to give us the
highlights.

MR, ZUBROD: In broad brush, Your Honor, the plea
agreement calis for Mr. Powell to enter a plea of guiity to the
two-count indictment that I have previously menticned to the
Court.

Additionally, he further agrees to cooperate in the
ongoing prosecution of others, to pay restitution as determined
by the district court and to forfeit the following assets: The

first is a 2002 Ocean Yacht 58 Super Sport named Reel Justice,
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5
which is presently registered in Tiverton, Rhode Island. He
also agrees to Torfeit his interest in a 1981 Saber Liner 5 Jet
énd its two Garrett engines identified by serial number. In
exchange, the United States has agreed to bring no other
criminal charges against the defendant directly arising out of
the operative facis of the investigation into Pennsylvania
Child Care and Western Pennsylvania Child Care and will further
recommend that Mr. Powsll receive a three-level departure for
acceptance of responsibility.

should Mr. Powell provide substantial assistance in
the prosscution of all other related parties, the United States
will seek a downward departure from the applicable sentencing
gqide]ine range.

- THE COURT: Dkay; Now, you alluded to the fact that
under the terms of that agreement the defendant is cooperating
with the government?

MR. ZUBROD: He 1is, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And is that cooperation in the context of
providing substantial assistance?

MR. ZUBROD: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Powell, counsel for the
government has been brief in alluding to the terms of that plea
agreement, some of which are very important. And does that
comport with your understanding of those terms?

THE DEFENDANT: It dees, Your Honor.
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THE COURT: Do you or counsel feel that some comment
should be made concerning any of the terms that have been
outlined or may not have been alluded to?

MR. SHEPPARD: No, Your Honor. We believe they are

- accurate. Thank you.

BY THE COURT:

4. Okay. I am obliged to tell a defendant at this stage that
in federal court the judge has no idea at this point what an
appropriate sentehce would be in your case. There's no
provisicn in the plea agreement indicating that the parties
have arrived at some sentence that they’'re going to suggest to
the Court.

Because we have sentencing guidelines in federal court, we
won't have an idea as to an appropriate sentence unfi]'sﬁch
time as the probation department conducts an investigation and
we know something about this offense, we know something about
your background as an individual. And other factors are taken
into account under thoss guidelines, and a range of sentence is
then determined.

And the guidelines then offer that range of sentence for
the Court to consider and nct to be compelled to adept it but
to give consideration to it as providing a reasonable and a
fair sentence. Is that understood?

A That's understood, Your Honor,

Q. Now, because of an important provision in that plea
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agreement that you're going to cooperate with the government
and provide substantial assistance, in the event a defendant
provides substantial assistance according to that agreement,
the government may at the appropriate time move for a downward
departure in the sentence that is to be imposed. And if such a
motion for downward departure is made -- and only the
government can make that motion except in one or two jnstances,
none of which are applicable here -- then that basically takes
the guidelines off the table and the Court has greater
discretion and is not Timited in any way by the guidelings that
are being offeread.

And ordinarily if the government recommends a certain
Tevel of departure, we accept that departure and sometimes we
even exceed it if we think it's appropriate in any given case.

Is that understood?

A. That's understood, Your Honor.
Q. Okay. Now, we're dealing with a serious crime, a felony.
You understand that if we accept your plea of guilty and you're

adjudged guilty, you stand to lose certain rights?

A. I do, Your Honor.

Q. You lose the right to vote -- possibly lose the right to
vote, to hold public office. In all events, you lose the right
to possess a weapon Tor any purpose whatsoever. Is that
understood?

A, That's understood, Your Honor.
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Q. Okay. I believe the most important consideration at a
time such as this is for the Court to determine if the
defendant understands that he has a right to a trial before a
Court and jury. You discussed that with your lawyers?
A I have, Your Honor.
Q. Because 1T you elected to stand trial, you’'d have the
benefit of a presumption of innocence that means a number of
things. First, in the trial of the case, there'd be no
obligation on your part to utter one in word in explanation or
defense of your conduct, nor would you be required to call
witnesses to do so, |

It's not that a defendant cannot testify or call
witnesses. As a matter of fact, if you can’t afford the
witnessés in any given case; the governmeﬁt wbu]d be ob11géd fo
pay for those witnesses to come in to testify in your bhehalf.
It’s just that in the criminal case in our system the defendant
has no obligation to do anything whatsoever because he's
presumed to be innocent and the government has a duty to
establish each and every element of the case with which that
person is charged by a standard we refer to beyond a resasonable
doubt.
And those elements will be alluded to by counsel for the

government at an apprepriate time here this morning. I want
you to know what I'm telling you about a jury trial would also

be told to a jury probably 1in greater detail and the jury would
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be told if the government fails in any particular to establish
the elements or any element of any of the crimes, the jury
would have a duty to return a verdict of not guilty. We would
define for them what reasonable doubt is under the law and
emphasize that it applies to each and every element of the
crime, okay?
A. Yes, Your Honor.
Q. Okay.
| THE COURT: I will ask counsel for the government now

to tell us what the evidence would be if the case did go to
trial.

MR. ZUBROD: May I approach, Your Honor?

THE COURT: Anything you want to do. A

MR. ZUBROD: May it please the Court, the factual
predicate of this case is as follows: As I --

THE CQURT: By the way, I can hear you better if you
sit at the table.

MR. ZUBROD: The factual predicate of this case is as
follows: Yeour Honor, as the Court is well aware having

participated in the guilty plea in that matter, Michael Conahan

~and Mark Ciavarella were judges for the Court of Common Pleas

for Luzerne County. Between approximately January 2002 and
January of 2007, Judge Conahan -~ Michael Conahan served as
president judge for Luzerne County between 1996 and 2008,

Judge Ciavarella served as judge of the juvenile court for
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Luzerne County. In approximately January of 2007, Judge
Ciavarella became president judge for Luzerne County. As
judges for the Court of Common Plsas, the defendants owed a
fiduciary duty to the citizens of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and to the judiciary of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and were reguired to file an annual statement of
financijal interest with the Administrative Office of the
Pennsylvania Courts reporting the source of any income, direct
or 1ndﬁrect,

The Administrative 0ffice of the Pennsylvania Courts
maintains offices in Cumberland County, the Middle District of
Pennsylvania and Philadelphia Counfy in the Eastern District of
Pennsylvania. As judges of the. courts of common pleas, Judges
Conahan and Ciavaré11a owed a fidudiary duty to the citizens of
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and one source of that duty
owed by the judges Was ﬁmposed by Pennsylvania Constitutional
Law Article 5§ of the Pennsylvania Constitution.

There were other sources of law including the
Pennsylvania Code of Judicial Conduct and Administrative Orders
of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court regarding matters related to
judges of the Courts of Common-?1eas. As judges, this duty
included but was not 1imited to the duty to refrain from
conduct that constitutes a conflict of interest, to recuse
themselves from matters in which they ha@e a conflict of

interest and tec file a truthful and complete annual statement
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of Ffinancial interest with the Administrative Office of
Pennsylvania Courts reporting sources of all income, direct or
indirect. That duty also included the duty ariéihg from their
position as judges to disclose material informatien relevant to
their ability to engage in impartial discretionary decision
making. Regarding the misprision of a felony, from in or about
June of 2000 tc on or about April 30th, 2007 Judges Conahan and
Ciavarella had an understanding among themselves that they
would engage in a material scheme to defraud the citizens of
the Pennsylvania and to defraud those c¢itizens of their right
of the honest services of the judges as Courts of Commcn Pileas
for Luzerne County, perform free of deceit, from
gelf-enrichment, from concealment and from conflict of
interest. |

Between approximately January df 2003 and January
1st, 2007, Judges Conahan and Ciavarella accepted a total of
more than 2.8 million from Robert Powell, who is an atiorney,
and from an -- he was the owner of P. A. ChiIdrCare and Western
P. A. Child Care, and an individual that we referred to as
Participant No, 2 both 1in the charges against Judges Conahan
and Ciavarella and in this case. He was a builder of
Pennsylvania Child Care and Western Pennsylvania Child Care.

Mr. Powell paid the judges approximately $772,500
often disguising the payments as rental fees relating to

docking his boat at the judge's condominium in Jupiter,
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Florida. That was false. These payments included the
following payments: January 113, Mr. Powell issued a check in
the amount of $18,000 to the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, L. L.
C. On January 13th, 2004, he issued a second check in the
amount of $562,000 to Pinnacie. On or about February 15th,
2004, Mr. Powell through Vision Holdings, Inc., issued a check
in the amount of $78,000 and identified it on the check as,
quote, reserving lease, unquote, to Pinnacle Group.

On February 158th, 2004, the same date, through Visicn
Holdings, Mr. Powell issued a check in the amount of $75,000
and identified on the face of the check the purpose of the
check was, quote, rental Feb, March, April to Pinnacle Group.
On or about February 15th, the same date, 2004, Mr. Powel]l
igsued another check in the amount éf $4?,OOO and fdentified it-
on the face of the chack as, quote, slip rental fees to
Pinnacle Group. On April 3Cth, 2004, Mr. Powell through Vision
Holdings issued a check in the amount of $75,000 and jdentified
on the face of the check as lease expenses April, Méy and June
to Pinnacle Group.

On April 30th, Mr. Powell through Vision Holdings
issued a check in the amount of $25,000 and identified on the
face of the check as dock expenses related to April, May and
June to Pinnacle Group. On or about July 12th, 2004, Mr.
Powell through Vision Holdings wire transferred $120,000 to

Pinnacle Group of Jupiter. On September 23rd, 2004, Mr. Powell
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through Vision Holdings wired transferred a hundred thousand
dollars to Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, On or about August 16th,
2006, Mr. Powell caused a series of checks in the amount of
$42,000 to be cashed and gave the cash proceeds to the judges.
On October 13th, 2006 Mr. Powell caused a series of checks in
the amount of $30,000 to be cashed and gave the proceeds to the
judges.

On November 1st, 2006, Mr. Powe1ﬁ caused a series of
checks in the amount of 320,000 to be cashed and gave the
proceeds to the judges. On or about November 20th, 2006, Mr.
Powell caused a series of checks for $50,000 to be cashed and
given to the judges. On or about December 18th, 20086, Mr.
Powell caused a series of checks in the amount of $31,500 to he
cashed, and again he_gaverthe proceeds to the judgeé.

THRE COURT: With respect to a number of the payments,
you keep saying that he gave them a check which was cashed and
given to the recipients. Would you clarify what you mean by
that?

MR. ZUBROD: This was a -- he cashed -- he caused to
be issued a series of checks to individuals, either to himself

or his Taw firm. He had those checks endorsed, and he had the

| checks cashed -- reduced to cash. These checks were usually in

amounts under $10,000. When he pooled all of the funds, he
would put the funds into a Fed Ex box and give it to an

employee and have that employee deliver the checks -- or I'm
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sorry -- deliver the cash directly to Judge Conahan.
THE COURT: So the checks were not made out to the

recipients? They received cash?

MR. ZUBROD: There was a series of checks made out to
the Jupiter -- Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, but this cash --
these were checks made ocut to -- either out to cash or to Mr.
Powell or to his employees.

THE COURT: A1l right. Continue, please.

MR. ZUBROD: Finally, on or about December 1st, 2006,
Mr. Powell paid Judge Conahan $9,000 in cash from a check that
had been cashed and was a referral fee for a case that had been
settled. During the time period, the judges agreed to accept
and accepted more than $2.8 million from Mr. Powell and from
Participant No. 2 related to the construction and operation of
the juvenile detention facilities owned by P. A. Child Care and
Western P. A. Chﬁ1d Care. The judges were acting as judges of
the Court of Common Pleas for Luzerne County, and they had
discretionary decision making authority in multiple matters
relating to P. A. Child Care and Western P. A. Child Care
without recusing themselves or disclosing to the parties the
material conflict of interest and the material financial
relationship with Mr, Powell whao was owner of P. A. Child Care
and Western P. A, Child Care and with Participant No. 2, who
was involved in the construction of the juvenile detention

facilities owned and opsrated by P. A. Child Care and Western
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P. A. Child care. _

Moreover, aware of this activity by the judges,
Robert Powell took no steps to notify authorities of the
criminal activity until after the commencement of the federal
investigaticn.

Ulfimately, Mr. Powell commenced cooperating-with
federal investigators, met with the judges and recorded
incriminating conversations with them. These recorded
conversations were instrumental +in developing the case against
the judges.

Regarding the accessory after the fact, count two of
the infermation alleges that Mr. Powell by allowing Participant
No, 2's finder's fee payments to Conahan and Ciavarella to be
passed through Mr. Powell's business accounts by paying cash to
the judges and by disguising payments by check to the judges as
rental and leasing fees, he acted as an accessory after the
fact to the judges' conspiracy between themselves to file false
tax returns.

In other words, aware that the payments were being
disguised as legitimate transactions, Robert Powell as an
attorney was implicitly aware that the judges would have
intended to falsely characterize of the nature of their income
on their tax returns and not to disclose the cash payments from
Mr. Powell on their statemsnt of income.

For example, to conceal the payments to the judges,
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the judges directed that false entries be made in the books and
records of the Pinnacle Group of Jupiter, L. L. C. They also
signed documents along with Mr. Powell and Participant No. 2
indicating that the payments were going to Mr, Powell from
Participant No. 2. The false paper trail was created by the
judges not only as part of their honest services fraud scheme
but also to defraud the Internal Revenue Service by falsely
characterizing some of the income as rental income and by
characterizing otherwise in order to receive their favorable --
favorahle tax treatment.

The cash payments were not mentioned on the tax

returns. The federal income tax returns relating to tax years

2003 through 2006 were filed with the Internal Revenue Service

and signéd by Judges Conahan and Ciavarella which were
materially false to the extent that they mischaracterized the
income the judges had received from Robert Powell and from
Participant No. 2. For tax years 2003 and 20086, the tax Tost
to the govermment for Judge Conahdn‘s part in the scheme was in
excess of $200,000, and for that same time frame, the tax year
-~ the tax loss to the government for Judge Ciavarella‘'s part
in the scheme was also in excess of $200,000.

BY THE COURT:

Q. Mr. Powell, vou heard counsel for the government tell us
the evidence that would be presented at. the time of the trial

concerning your relationship with the two individuals who were
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judges 1in Luzerne County and the activity that occurred in

-financial transactions that cccurred between you. Is what he

tells us correct?
A.  Yes, it is, Your Honor,

THE COURT: You want to outline the elements, Mr,
Zubroa?

MR. ZUBROD: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I the case went to trial, what it is you
would have to prove.

MR. ZUBROD: As to count one, the United States would
have to prove that Mr. Powell in the Middlie District of
Pennsylvania having knowledge of the actual commission of a
felony recognizable by the United States, and in this case it
was Honest services wire fraud in violation of Title 18 United
States Code Section 1343-and Section 1346, having knowledge
that an offense had -- had been committed, he knowingly and
intentionally concealed that knowledge by cooperating in the
creation of false records designed to hide, disguise and
mischaracterize income received by Michael Conahan and Mark
Ciavarella and by transferring tens of thousands of dollars in
cash to Michael Conahan with the intent that the cash not be
traceable as income and did not as soon as possible make known
the fact of these c¢riminal activities to some judge or other
person, civil or military authority under the United States,

which is a violation of 18 U.S.C. Section 4, Misprision of a




10
11
12

13

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

24|

25

18
Felony Statute.

As to count two, the Accessory After the Fact, we
have to show that between January 2003 and on or about April
18th, 2007, again in the Middle District of Pennsylvania, Wr.
Powell knowing that an offense against the United States had
been and was being committed, that is in this case conspiracy
-~ Ceonspiracy to File False Ingome Tax Returns in violation of
18 U.S.C. Section 371, knowing that, he knowingly and
intentionally received, relieved, comforted and assisted the
of fenders Michael Conahan and Hark Ciavarella in order to
hinder and prevent the offender's apprehension of trial and
punishment 1in violation of 18 U.8.C. Section 3 and that
hindering, that aiding and abetting is the same acts which
occurred in count-one which I previously stated to the Court.

THE COURT: Do you understand those elements?

THE DEFENDANT: I do, Your Honor,

THE CQURT: Counsel, you --

MR. SHEPPARD: If I may, Your Honor, just with regard
to the prior question to Mr. Powell about the factual basis, I
just want to make one point clear for the record. Wr. Zubrod
in outlining the facts stated that Mr. Powell was aware of this
activity of the judges -- he used this activity after laying
out a Titany of activities -- I don't believe it is accurate to
say that Mr. Powell was aware of all those activities that were

laid out by Mr. Zubrod. And in particular, Mr. Powell was
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unaware that Judge Ciavarella or Judge Conahan were violating
any rights of any juveniles, and I don't believe the government
will dispute that. I just want to make sure that's clear on

this record.

THE COURT: I am not sure that's even implied in this
statement.

MR. SHEPPARD: To the extent it may have been, I just
want it to be clear.

MR. ZUBROD: We agree, Your Honor, there was no
knowledge on the part of Mr. Powell that juveniles were being
abused by thess judges. What he was inplicitly aware of,
however, was that there was a conspiracy to file false tax
returns and to avoid reporting income that they were receiving,
or at the very Teast mischaracterizing the nature and'source bf
that inccme.

THE COURT: Is it the government's position there was
an understanding on the part of this defendant and possibly the
other defendants that because these moneys were being paid in
consideration for the favorable treatment in establishing a
juvenile center that it wasn't just an outright gift, but there
would have to be some consideration for those payments? It
wasn't a finder's fee I presume.

MR, ZUBROD: That's correct, Your Honor. It was a
finder's fee as to Participant No. 2, and yet the judges still

wanted to disguise that --
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THE COURT: That's the guy that's building the place?

MR. ZUBROD: Yes, sir. As to Mr. Powell, these were
not finder's fees, Thess were payments that they had commended
from him.

MR. SHEPPARD: That's correct, Your Henor, in order
to be able to build the facility, not necessarily to take any
subsequent actions. That's our point -~ or correct to build
both facilities.

THE COURT: I am not sure I completely understand
what these payments were for and what they expected in return
for the payments.

MR. SHEPPARD: To support Mr. Powell's and his
partner’'s efforts to build P. A. Child Care and Western P. A.
Child Caré and to use those facilities through their activities
in Luzerne County.

THE COURT: What did they expect from the judges?
What were the judges to do for these payments?

MR. SHEPPARD: Well, Your Honor, there was -- there
was no quid pro guo per se. That's why the crime was honest
services fraud.

THE COURT: He has to have known they were committing
a felony.

MR. SHEPPARD: Correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: What was the felony that he was aware of

that they were committing?
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MR. SHEPPARD: Mr. Powell was aware that the judges
were not disclosing and were, in fact, disguising these
payments in terms of their obligations to report to the
Commonwealth and the citizens of Luzerne County. -That he was
aware of, and that's what he's admitting to.

THE COURT: Al11 right. You agree that was the
Timitation of this witness -- or this defendant's knowledge?

MR. ZUBROD: The -- the plea that he is pleading
guilty to is the fact he was aware of -- that there was income
tax evasion taking place for Tiling false tax returns. He was
aware the income was not being reported or if reported it was
being mischaracterized. He remained silent on that fact,

THE COURT: Those payments were being made to them
because of their influence to have somebody receiving a |
contract to conduct a juvenile facility or juvenile facilities
and that was the extent of his part{cipation; is that right?

MR, ZUBROD: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Okay. Although the government claims
that the other defendant's participation exceeded those
expectations; isn't that correct?

MR, ZUBROD: Yes, sir.

THE CGURT: Okay. I can tell you that the most
important aiement in both of these offenses and what
distinguishes them from negiigent or stupidity, even though

stupidity is often a crime but because stupidity itself is not
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a crime, it only becomes a crime if one acts knowingly and
intentionally with respect to the allegations that have been

outlined by counsel for the government. Do you understand

that?
THE DEFENDANT: I do, Your Honor.
BY THE COQURT:
Q. that is probably the most important element. And in

defining that element for the jury, we would tell them they
have to prove what was occurring in your mind. And sometimes
it's difficult for people to read an individual's mind, and the
only evidence they have from which they can conclude that you

acted krnowingly and unlawfully is from your actions as well as

~any words that were spoken that might be produced by the

government. Do vou understand that?
A. I do, Your Honor.
Q. And 1f the jury believes that evidence, I'm satisfied they

can conclude that you're guilty of count one and count two of

| this information. And we at the beginning noted the offense

but failed to recognize that we were talking about an
information. And I should make it very clear to you that in
the federal system the government cannot charge a person with a
felony without first going before a duly constituted grand
jury. Do you understand that?

A. I do, Your Honor.

Q. And a grand jury consists anywhere from 16 to 23 people
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who do not determine guilt or innocence. They simply inguire
to the subject of a c¢rime, as to whether there's probable cause
that an offense-has been committed and whether there’s probable
cause the person the government wishes to charge should be
charged with that offense. And if at least 12 of those jurors
decided that probable cause exists in each instance, that grand
jury can return an indictment.

An indictment dis not evidence of guilt but simply a
vehicle by which a person is charged and required to come in to
court to respond to those charges. That was not done here
because 1 believe you waived the necessity of the government
going before a duly constituted grand jury and agreed that we
can proceed on the basis of the information which is in the
form of an indictment except it's called information and it's
signed by the United States Attorney instead of the foreman of
a dgrand jury. But you have discussed that with counsel and,
indeed, have executed a waiver I presume, Is that right?

MR. SHEPPARD: Yes, he has, Your Honor., It was part
of the plea agreement. He executed that.

THE COURT: That will be filed of record ar is filed
of record?

MR. ZUBROD: T will confirm that it has been, Your
Honor.

THE COURT: Well, again, I say if the jury believed

that they would -- could find you guilty of those offences.
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Having said that, I ask you how do you plead?

THE DEFENDANT: I plead guilty, Your Honor.

THE COURT: When we are finished here, you are going
to spend time with the probation officer, And to the extent
your lawyers permit, you tell that probation officer what you
think the judge should know about you. He will conduct the
investigation we talked about earlier. And when +it's
completed, there will be a presentence report.

You will get a copy as will your lawyers and
government's counsel. If you have anything that you object to
in that report, you must first take up your objections with the
probation officer who has the responsibility of trying to
resolve them if he can. If he cannot, you'll come 1nto a
sétting similar to this one and the judge will have to resolve
the objections. | |

BeTore any judgment of sentence is imposed, we'1l be
very happy to hear from you as well as your lawyers and
government counsel. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Because this is an initial appearance ---
is that correct, Mr. Zubrod?

WR. ZUBRCD: It is, Your Honor,

THE COURT: Any objection to the defendant continuing
under the same terms and conditfons that now exist?

MR. ZUBROD: We do not, Your Honor. It is our
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request that we -- we take a view he poses a low risk of
nonappearance and he's not a danger to the community and that
he should be released on his personal recognizance without
pretrial services supervision.

THE COURT: 1It's so ordered subject to any conditions
the probation office feels is necessary,

MR. SHEPPARD: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE CCURT: Okay. Thank you.

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: That concludes our proceeding.
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